Second Hand Play (Part II)
B.   When dummy is on the right

These situations can be a bit tougher.  When dummy leads an honor, should second hand cover? Again the same reasoning applies:

1. Only if a trick can possibly be promoted for either you or your partner – and, as usual, Length Considerations are vital.

2. If there are two or more equal honor cards in dummy, second hand covers the last equal, not the second equal, as is usually done when the honors are led from the concealed hand. 

North (Dummy)





       
C♣ J T 4




East (You)








         C♣ Q 7 6

The Jack is led from dummy; should East cover?  No. Cover the last equal if you are going to cover at all. Again, if South has not bid the suit, East ducks the Jack and covers the Ten, catering to South having AK8x. If that is the holding, South may decide to finesse the eight, allowing partner to score a trick with his 9xx. However, if the Jack loses to the King and the Ten is led next, cover if you suspect that partner has at least two more cards in the suit, but play low if you do not. However, if the Jack loses to partner’s ACE, you are now marked with the Queen, so you must cover the Ten in the hopes that partner started with the A9x. (If the Jack loses to the King, declarer still does not know who has the Queen.)
If there is only one honor card in the dummy, it is usually proper to cover – unless either your own length or partner’s known lack of length precludes promotional possibilities. 

North (Dummy)





       
C♣ J 4




East (You)








         C♣ Q 5 2

If the Jack is led from dummy in a side suit, it is usually right for East to cover, but if East holds Kxxx, he can insure a trick for himself by not covering. If South has pre-empted the suit, it would be the height of insanity for East to cover, since West is marked with shortness. 

North






♠ J 4





♥ A Q





♦ A 8 7 6 5





♣ A K 8 6 



West





East


♠ K





♠ Q 5 2


♥ J 9 8 2




♥ K T 6 5 3


♦ Q T 9




♦ 4 2


♣ Q J T 4 3




♣ 9 7 2





South






♠ A T 9 8 7 6 3








♥ 7 4






♦ K J 3





♣ 5
Opening Lead: ♣ Q
Dummy wins and leads the Jack of Spades.  If East covers, both the defense and partner will fall apart. But if East and South both play low, West will win; and if he shifts to a heart, the hand will be defeated. East should not even cover the Jack with Qx once South has announced at least a seven card suit. South may have started with KT9xxxx and guess to play the King when the Jack is not covered.  One of the tougher situations for second hand to navigate correctly is one we’ve all been through:
North (Dummy)





       C♣ A T 9 8 7



         West




      East (you)


       C♣ 6 2   




C♣ Q 5 4 3   







South





     C♣ K J

Assume hearts are trumps and the diagramed clubs are a side suit. South leads the King from hand, the Jack to the Ace, and finally the Ten from dummy. Should East cover? Wouldn’t you know it – It depends:
Yes, if  1) dummy has no side entry, or 

 2) Declarer is about to discard a loser that is immediately cashable by the defense (i.e., if declarer ruffs                 

    and partner can overruff, that the defense has a cashing side trick).

No, if  1)  Trumps have been removed and there is a side entry to dummy. (This is the most common situation.).   

2) Partner has worthless trumps.

3) There are no immediate tricks to be taken by the defense – even if the Ten is covered, ruffed, and overruffed by partner. 

North






♠ Q





♥ A K J T 3





♦ K Q J 4





♣ Q J 4 



West





East


♠ J T 8 3 2




♠ A 9 7 6 4


♥ 5 4





♥ Q 8 7 6


♦ 5 2





♦ 7


♣ K 6 5 3




♣ 8 7 2





South






♠ K 5








♥ 9 2






♦ A T 9 8 6 3





♣ A T 9
Opening Lead: Jack of Spades
East wins and shifts to a club. South judges to rise with the Ace, hoping to discard club losers on dummy’s hearts. Two rounds of trumps are drawn and the Ace, King, and Jack of Hearts are played. Here, it is clearly correct for East to play low. West has no more trumps, and dummy has a re-entry. If East covers, South claims. (He ruffs, enters dummy with a trump, and discards the losing clubs on the hearts). If East plays low smoothly, South must guess whether to play for 3-3 hearts (then ruffing would be correct), or run the heart now.     

In the trump suit, second hand must consider the possibility of overruffing dummy before covering an honor with an honor. 
North






♠ 6 5 4





♥ K Q 8 7 6





♦ Q T 9 8





♣ 3


West





East


♠ J 3 2





♠ A T 9 8 7


♥ T 4 3 2




♥ A J 9 


♦ 6 5





♦ K 3 2


♣ Q 9 7 2




♣ J 4





South






♠ K Q








♥ 5






♦ A J 7 4





♣ A K T 8 6 5

Opening Lead: Deuce of Spades
East wins the Ace and returns the suit. South plays the Ace of Clubs and ruffs a club. At trick 5, the Queen of Diamonds is led from dummy. East must not cover, because he wishes to retain his King to overtrump dummy the next time a club is led.  If East covers, South wins, ruffs another club and loses only one more heart trick. If East refuses to cover, declarer must ruff one more club in dummy, so East overruffs to defeat the hand 1 trick.
Other common positions:

 North (Dummy)





       
C♣ J 4




East (You)








         C♣ A Q 3

Dummy leads the Jack, what should East do? In these cases, it is almost always right to play the Ace. This forces declarer to return to dummy to repeat the finesse against the Queen. If East plays low and the Jack holds, the lead remains in dummy and East will have made life too convenient for declarer. However, even this rule has an exception: 

North (Dummy)





       C♣ J 4



         West




      East (you)


       C♣ 7 6   




C♣ A Q 3   







South





     C♣ K T 9 8 5 2

Assume South is trying to establish his club suit and has no outside entries to his own hand. If East wins the first club, later declarer can lead the four from dummy, finesse the Ten, and take 5 club tricks. However, if East either plays low or the Queen the first time, and wins the Ace on the second round, South will presumably have no way to get back to his remaining good clubs.  If instead, East holds AQxx, the Ace is usually best when the Jack is led – but low and then the Ace is better if declarer has no hand entries. 

Thousands of tricks have been lost by naïve defenders in this position:

North (Dummy)





       C♣ J 2



         West




      East (you)


       C♣ 8 6 4 3   




C♣ A T 9   







South





     C♣ K Q 7 5

Dummy leads the Jack. If East plays low, (he should not think South finessing because he himself holds the Ten), South can come to three tricks by leading a second round of the suit – if East ducks again, declarer can win and lead a low club from his hand. If East plays the Ace on the Jack, then West must make a fourth round trick.   Unfortunately, it could be right to play low:

North (Dummy)





       C♣ J 2



         West




      East (you)


       C♣ 7 6 3  




C♣ A T 9   







South





     C♣ K Q 8 5 4

If the South hand is known to be weak, it could well be right for East to duck the Jack and win the second round of the suit. If South has no hand entries, he can take no more than one club trick – assuming of course that clubs aren’t trumps. The following position is much clearer, yet many defenders can’t force themselves to make the right play:

North (Dummy)





       C♣ J 3 2



         West




      East (you)


       C♣ 9 5  




C♣ A T 8 7   







South





     C♣ K Q 6 4

Dummy leads the Jack and East should know that declarer probably holds the King-Queen (although it’s possible he holds the Q9xx). East should play the Ace, holding declarer to 2 tricks rather than the 3 he will take if East ducks and the suit is played twice more from the dummy.  
Obviously, the bidding and declarer’s hand entries must be considered when deciding whether or not to cover; nevertheless, these basic defensive combinations need to be understood.

Keep in mind that in every example up until now, either declarer or dummy has led an honor card. We have yet to discuss second hand’s problem when a low card is led from dummy toward declarer’s hand or vice-versa.
II. When Declarer Leads a Low Card Toward Dummy, When Does 2nd Hand Play High?

1. If this is the setting trick, or if second hand can see that this trick along with other known established tricks will defeat the contract, he normally wins.

2. If the dummy has a broken honor combination, it is almost always right for the second hand to play low and allow declarer to guess which honor to play from dummy.  The most common:

   A.



          North (Dummy)





       C♣ K J x



         West (you) 


       C♣ Axx   




    







South





     C♣ x

Partner will frequently have the Queen, and you can take your Ace the next time.


   B.



          North (Dummy)





       C♣ Q T x



         West (you) 


       C♣ Kxxx  




    







South





     C♣ x

Partner must either have the Ace, Jack, or both, so let him win the first trick – unless you have some compelling reason for wanting to gain the lead. (Note that if declarer held the Ace and the Jack, he would have led the suit from dummy).
   
   C.



          North (Dummy)






      C♣ K Q T



         West (you) 



       C♣ Axxx  




    







South





     C♣ x

It is usually correct to duck twice. If declarer has two, three, or even four small cards, he will usually play the King the first time, and the Ten the second, (thinking you have the Jack and your partner the Ace). Note how important it is for East to duck the Ace when he does not hold the Jack on the first round of the suit. If a reckless East wins the first round with the Ace, declarer has no choice but to find the winning finesse of the Ten on the second round of the suit.

   
   D.



          North (Dummy)






       C♣ A J 9



         West (you) 



       C♣ KQxx   




    







South





     C♣ x

Declarer will almost always insert the Nine if you play low, and partner will probably win with the Ten.

Strangely enough, when declarer leads up to a King-Queen combination on the board, even though he has no guess, it is usually right for second hand to play low holding the Ace – even when he suspects a singleton is being led!!
North






♠ K Q 6





♥ Q J T 5 2





♦ A





♣ 7 6 5 2


West





East


♠ A T 8 4 3




♠ J 9 7 5


♥ 4





♥ 6


♦ K Q T 2




♦ 7 6 5 4 3


♣ K Q 8




♣ J 4 3





South






♠ 2







♥ A K 9 8 7 3






♦ J 9 8





♣ A T 9










*     Forcing Heart Raise









**   Singleton or Void Spade










*** Foolish Cue bid

Assume South gets to a wildly optimistic 6H heart contract and West leads the King of Diamonds. A trump is led to the closed hand and at trick 3 South leads his known singleton spade. If West rises with the Ace, South will discard his two losing clubs on the two top spades and will make his slam. However, if West patiently plays low, his patience will be rewarded when South does not lose a spade trick, but must eventually lose two club tricks. Clearly, had West chosen the King of Clubs for his opening lead, he would rise with the Ace of Spades because he holds the setting trick, (the Queen of Clubs) in his own hand. 
South	West	North	East


  3S	   P	  6S	All Pass








South	West	North	East


 1NT	   P	 3NT	All Pass





North	East	South	West


  1H	  P	  2D	   P


  3S*      P         4NT      P


  5D        P         6D      All Pass











North	East	South	West


  		  1C	   P


  1H        P         2D        P


  3D        P         4C        P


  4D	   P	  5D	  All Pass





North	East	South	West


  		  1H	   P


 2NT*     P         3S**    P


  4D***  P        4NT       P


  5D	   P	  6H	  All Pass








